FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/14/2023 11:41 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101719-7 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 82911-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ROBERT FLEEKS, JR.,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 3, 2018, Aleli Panganiban and Anthony
Lieu were working the night shift at the Best Western hotel in
Pioneer Square. RP 412-16 (2/24/2021). At around 11 p.m.,

³ Matter of Lui, 188 Wn.2d 525, 555, 397 P.3d 90 (2017).

they saw Marlin George attempt to enter the lobby through a locked door. RP 419, 476 (2/24/2021). Fleeks then approached and the two men engaged in a verbal argument that became physical when Fleeks kicked George. RP 422-23, 477-81 (2/24/2021). Fleeks and George moved in and out of view until they heard a gunshot and saw George collapse on the pavement. RP 434, 493 (2/24/2021). Lieu called 911, as did Joshua Villalta, a hotel guest filming the aftermath of the shooting from his room. RP 219, 226-27, 496 (2/23/2021).

Responding police officers found George "pretty much lifeless" with a gunshot wound to his chest. RP 252, 274 (2/23/2021). A crack pipe was found clutched in George's left hand. RP 254 (2/23/2021). George was taken to the hospital but died shortly thereafter. RP 606 (2/25/2021). A small amount of crack-cocaine was later found concealed behind his upper lip. RP 616 (2/25/2021).

Responding officers found Fleeks, who matched witness descriptions of the shooter, running through Pioneer Park. RP

310-11 (2/23/2021). Fleeks ignored commands to stop and ran into an alleyway where he discarded his jacket in a stairwell and dumped his pistol in the back of a garbage truck. RP 296-99, 311-12 (2/23/2021); RP 1164 (3/4/2021). Officers eventually detained Fleeks, and Lieu identified him at the scene as George's assailant. RP 315 (2/23/2021); RP 400, 502 (2/24/2021). During a post-arrest interview, Fleeks repeatedly denied any involvement with George's death. Ex. 16.

Much of the incident was recorded on various surveillance cameras as well as Villalta's cell phone. Ex. 82. George is obviously intoxicated, stumbling and swaying on his feet throughout the video. Ex. 82. After briefly loitering near Prefontaine Park, various cameras show George running for several city blocks, with Fleeks in pursuit, until he stops in front of the Best Western. Ex. 82 (00:00-11:48).

George and Fleeks then have an animated discussion. Ex. 82 (11:48). When George bends over to pull up his socks, Fleeks kicks him in the head, knocking George's beanie off and

driving him back. Ex. 82 (12:06-12:15, 16:43). George responds by emptying his pockets onto the ground, and Fleeks then sifts through George's belongings. Ex. 82 (12:22, 12:51, 17:00). George periodically lifts his shirt, presumably to show that he has nothing else concealed. Ex. 82 (12:56, 17:34).

The two men start walking side-by-side but pause after approximately 10-20 feet. Ex. 82 (12:54-13:11). Fleeks then strikes George with a pistol. Ex. 82 (17:45-17:50). When George recovers from the blow, he throws a wild but unsuccessful punch at Fleeks, who then shoots him in the chest. Ex. 82 (13:05-13:23, 17:55-18:00). George immediately crumples to the ground and Fleeks walks away. Ex. 82 (13:25).

Fleeks returns moments later and begins calmly picking small objects off the ground. Ex. 82 (13:30-13:55, 18:25). He again rifles through the pile from George's pockets before appearing to search George's stricken body. Ex. 82 (13:55-15:55, 18:30-20:36, 21:30). Finally, Fleeks gathers up loose

cigarettes and places them in George's beanie before fleeing. Ex. 82 (15:55, 20:40, 21:35-21:45).

Fleeks testified in his own defense and described himself as a career drug dealer. RP 1136-48 (3/4/2021). He said that an acquaintance flagged him down to buy drugs while accompanied by George, who was a stranger. RP 1148 (3/4/2021). He sold crack to George, who immediately smoked it and returned to buy more. RP 1149 (3/4/2021). When Fleeks placed more crack in his hands, George ran off without paying. RP 1150 (3/4/2021).

Fleeks stated he pursued George, eventually catching up to him outside the Best Western. RP 1150-51 (3/4/2021). Fleeks claimed he kicked George because he thought there might be a knife concealed in his sock. RP 1151-52 (3/4/2021). Fleeks admitted on direct examination that he could have retreated but continued the confrontation because he wanted his drugs back. RP 1153 (3/4/2021). He confirmed George was emptying his

pockets to show he did not have the crack. RP 1153-54 (3/4/2021).

Fleeks asserted he pistol-whipped George because George was reaching into his pocket, a claim refuted by the video evidence. RP 1154-57 (3/4/2021); Ex. 83 at 17:48. The impact detached the magazine base plate, causing ammunition to spill onto the pavement. RP 1156-58 (3/4/2021). Fleeks testified he thought George had a knife when he fired because he saw a "tiny glare" that turned out to be George's crack pipe. RP 1159-61, 1198 (3/4/2021).

Fleeks claimed he did not know if George had been hit and he made no effort to summon aid. RP 1181-82 (3/4/2021). After stopping to pick up the dropped ammunition, Fleeks continued searching for the missing crack. RP 1161-63 (3/4/2021). Fleeks ran from responding police officers because he thought the situation "looked bad," and he acknowledged later lying repeatedly to detectives about his involvement. RP 1164-68, 1177-79 (3/4/2021).

A jury convicted Fleeks of second-degree felony murder. CP 408-11. Following a bifurcated proceeding, the jury also convicted Fleeks of unlawful firearm possession. CP 475. The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence below the standard range based on Fleeks' youth. CP 695-96.

Fleeks subsequently moved for a new trial, arguing that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request an instruction on revived self-defense. <u>Fleeks</u>, No. 82911-4 at 8. The trial court denied the motion after finding Fleeks could not establish prejudice because revived self-defense was unavailable. <u>Id.</u> at 9.

Fleeks renewed his ineffective assistance claim on direct appeal.⁴ The Court of Appeals agreed that trial counsel was ineffective and reversed Fleeks' murder conviction in a

⁴ Fleeks also challenged the trial court's restitution order in a separate appeal. <u>State v. Fleeks</u>, No. 83354-5. Because the Court of Appeals reversed Fleeks' murder conviction, it also vacated the restitution order in a brief unpublished opinion. Id.

published opinion.⁵ <u>Fleeks</u>, No. 82911-4 at 1. The State now seeks this Court's review.

E. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this Court if the decision below raises a significant question of constitutional law, involves an issue of substantial public interest, or conflicts with published decisions of either this Court or of the Court of Appeals. The errors below implicate all three criteria.

1. WHETHER UNCHALLENGED VIDEO EVIDENCE CAN BE CONSIDERED WHEN ASSESSING A PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION IS A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION.

The trial court ruled that Fleeks did not establish

Strickland prejudice because the evidence would not have supported a revived self-defense instruction. RP 481

(5/18/2021). In reaching this conclusion, the court relied in part

⁵ The Court of Appeals affirmed Fleeks' conviction for second degree unlawful possession of a firearm. <u>Fleeks</u>, No. 82911-4 at 2.

on surveillance footage that showed Fleeks was the aggressor "for the majority of a very long period of time." RP 481 (5/18/2021). The Court of Appeals, however, held that "the trial court erred as a matter of law by weighing the evidence and determining that the video contradicted Fleeks's testimony." Fleeks, No. 82911-4 at 10.

Under existing precedent, a court considering the availability of a jury instruction "view[s] the supporting evidence in the light most favorable to the party that requested the instruction." State v. Grott, 195 Wn.2d 256, 458 P.3d 750 (2020). This standard has prevailed in Washington for at least half a century, if not longer. State v. Waggoner, 80 Wn.2d 7, 10, 490 P.2d 1308 (1971); Rickert v. Geppert, 64 Wn.2d 350, 354, 391 P.2d 964 (1964).

While the Court of Appeals accurately recited the current rule as to conflicts between or among the testimony of witnesses, this case does not involve such a conflict. Rather, this case involves the very different situation of indisputably

accurate and unchallenged video footage. Where a witness offers a story that conflicts with clear video evidence, that witness's testimony should not be afforded a presumption of correctness.

Surveillance cameras were not widely used when the current rule was adopted.⁶ In some parts of the country, cameras can now be found on almost every street corner.⁷ This technological sea change has led to the widespread use of video evidence in trials. Such evidence is qualitatively superior to witness testimony – it is more detailed than human memory,

⁶ The first surveillance system operated by a police department had only just debuted in 1968. Gary C. Robb, <u>Police Use of CCTV Surveillance: Constitutional Implications and Proposed Regulations</u>, 13 U. Mich. J. Law Reform 572, n.5 (1980).

⁷ See Surveillance city: NYPD can use more than 15,000 cameras to track people using facial recognition in Manhattan, Bronx and Brooklyn, Amnesty International, https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2021/06/scale-new-york-police-facial-recognition-revealed/ (last accessed 1/31/2023).

does not lie, has no bias, and cannot forget.⁸ Because of these advantages, reviewing courts should rely on a video if it plainly conflicts with the proponent's testimony.

The "light most favorable" standard was founded on the principle that juries should resolve disputed issues of fact. See Stalter v. State, 151 Wn.2d 148, 154, 86 P.3d 1159 (2004) (in summary judgment context). This rule still makes sense in the great majority of contexts, and the State is not asking this Court to discard it. But it makes little sense for courts to accept testimony as true when it is plainly contradicted by video evidence of undisputed authenticity.

Washington courts have already adopted this view in civil cases. Berry v. King County, 19 Wn. App. 2d 583, 501
P.3d 150 (2021). Berry involved a summary judgment analysis,

⁸ This is not to say that video evidence is always perfect. The quality can be poor, there could be gaps in the footage, or critical moments might happen off-camera. In such cases, it might make sense to still defer to the proponent's testimony. This is not such a case.

which also employs a "light most favorable" standard. The plaintiff's testimony in that case appeared to create a triable issue of fact. <u>Id.</u> at 586. The Court of Appeals, however, granted summary judgment for the defendant because the plaintiff's "version of events [was] 'blatantly contradicted' by video evidence of the incident." Id. at 588-89.

Federal courts have also adopted this rule. Scott v.

Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 377-81, 127 S. Ct. 1769, 167 L. Ed. 2d

686 (2007) (trial court "should have viewed the facts in the light depicted by the video tape" rather than rely on defendant's "utterly discredited" version of events); Jacobs v. Cumberland

County, 8 F.4th 187, 192 (3d Cir. 2021) ("In cases where there is a reliable video depicting the events in question, courts must not adopt a version of the facts that is 'blatantly contradicted' by the video footage"); Seidner v. de Vries, 39 F.4th 591, 599

(9th Cir. 2022) ("Construing the facts in the light most favorable to Seidner does not require us to turn a blind eye to established facts that 'clearly contradict[] his telling of events").

A defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense often depends on the jury being properly instructed.

State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 734, 265 P.3d 191 (2011).

Whether the modern exception to the "light most favorable" standard should be applied in this context is thus an issue of significant constitutional import. This Court should grant review.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS'
INTERPRETATION OF REVIVED SELFDEFENSE CONFLICTS WITH THIS
COURT'S PRECEDENT AND PRESENTS AN
ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC
INTEREST.

A person who provokes an altercation cannot then claim self-defense "unless he in good faith had first withdrawn from the combat at such a time and in such a manner as to have clearly apprised his adversary that he in good faith was desisting, or intended to desist, from further aggressive action." State v. Craig, 82 Wn.2d 777, 514 P.2d 151 (1973). The defendant "has the duty to employ all means in his power to

avert the necessity of killing" before his right to self-defense can be "revived." State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 617-18, 801 P.2d 193 (1990) (quoting Bellcourt v. State, 390 N.W.2d 269, 272 (Minn. 1986)).

Washington courts have consistently found that self-defense is not revived when the aggressor continued to threateningly possess a firearm. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d at 618; see also State v. Owens, No. 54910-7, 2022 WL 601867 at *5 (2022 Unpublished) (revived self-defense unavailable when the defendant "grabbed his holster and his gun" before warning the victim to stop). Rather, the defendant must have taken steps to "remove the decedent's fear" before he can lawfully regain the right of self-defense. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d at 618.

Fleeks pursued George for a considerable distance attempting to recover a small amount of crack. George was unarmed and unsteady on his feet. The first time George ever tried to strike Fleeks was in response to being pistol-whipped. It

is debatable whether Fleeks could legally claim self-defense at all on these facts, let alone "revived" self-defense.

The Court of Appeals' contrary conclusion seems to be based on two purported facts: (1) that George was following Fleeks after he allegedly attempted to disengage, and (2) that George "unequivocally [threw] a hard punch at Fleeks." Fleeks, No. 82911-4 at 10.

The allegation that George followed Fleeks is disproved by the surveillance footage, which shows the two men walking side-by-side engaged in conversation. Ex. 82 (17:20). While George is supposedly "following" Fleeks, the video shows him submissively lifting his shirt. Id. The Court of Appeals also observed that Fleeks "turn[ed] and put[] his back against the wall" shortly before the assault. Fleeks, No. 82911-4 at 10. But the opinion fails to mention that these positions evolved, and it is George with his back against the wall when Fleeks hit him with a loaded gun. Ex. 82 (17:45).

The Court of Appeals' second rationale is equally untenable. The surveillance footage shows that George's hands were visible the moment before Fleeks struck him. Ex. 82 (17:48). When George threw a punch, it was plainly in direct response to Fleeks' assault that had occurred only a few seconds prior. Id. Even assuming George had earlier made a threatening gesture, which is highly debatable, it is unclear how self-defense could be revived when the use of deadly force was a direct consequence of Fleeks' own actions.

George did not attempt to fight back until he had already been pursued across several city blocks, compelled to empty his pockets, kicked, and pistol-whipped. Far from making it clear to George that he did not remain a threat, Fleeks turned his attention to *reassembling the gun* which had broken when used as a tool to bludgeon George. RP 1157 (3/4/2021). That George took this brief opportunity to defend himself from further attack did not create a legal justification for Fleeks to shoot him.

By sanctioning Fleeks' dubious brand of self-help on such a scanty showing of abandonment, the Court of Appeals' reasoning conflicts with long-standing precedent requiring an unambiguous disavowal of any threat to the victim before self-defense can be revived. The reasoning below tips the scales of justice strongly in favor of defendants who escalate small property disputes into gun violence and murder.

Local media have reported extensively on the "extreme rise in gun violence" plaguing King County. A fatal shooting in downtown Seattle, filmed by hotel guests from their window, is certainly an issue of substantial public interest in this context, especially if the challenged opinion substantially reduces the

⁹ Jake Chapman, <u>Seattle police continue to see alarming rise in homicides, gun violence</u>, KIRO 7 News, <u>https://www.kiro7.com/news/local/seattle-police-continue-see-alarming-rise-homicides-gun-violence/IGPW7OIU3VFKXL3CYJL 2STIQGE/</u> (last accessed 1/16/2023); Danny Westneat, <u>Seattle Continues to go backward on crime – as much as 30 years back</u>, The Seattle Times, <u>https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/politics/seattle-continues-to-go-backward-on-crime-as-much-as-30-years-back/</u> (last accessed 1/16/2023).

odds that modern-day gunslingers will be successfully prosecuted. Finally, this case presents a significant constitutional question, since the circumstances in which a person can assert self-defense impacts the State's ultimate burden of proof.

This Court should grant review to clarify the availability of revived self-defense.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS' ERRONEOUS STRICKLAND ANALYSIS CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT.

A defendant must demonstrate both deficient performance and prejudice before their attorney can be deemed ineffective. In re Pers. Restraint of Hopper, 4 Wn. App. 2d 838, 844, 424 P.3d 228 (2018). Prejudice is shown by establishing a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel's unprofessional errors. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).

A reasonable probability is defined as "a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id.</u> "[T]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable." (<u>Lui</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 539 (quoting <u>Harrington v. Richter</u>, 562 U.S. 86, 112, 131 S. Ct. 770, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011)).

The Court of Appeals did not cite, let alone apply, the correct standard. Fleeks, No. 82911-4 at 11. It ruled that had a revived self-defense instruction been given, the jury "may have concluded" that Fleeks' conduct was justified. Id. But "the mere possibility" of a different result does not establish prejudice, nor does a finding that the jury "may" have voted to acquit. State v. Rowland, No. 49444-2, 2018 WL 4603130 at *17 (2018 Unpublished) (emphasis original); see also Fields v. Woodford, 309 F.3d 1095, 1107-08 (9th Cir. 2002) (Strickland requires "more than the possibility that [the appellant] was prejudiced by counsel's errors").

Courts "must always be mindful that the standard of prejudice set out in Strickland requires more than a mere possibility" of a different result. Poyner v. Murray, 964 F.2d 1404, 1420-21 (4th Cir. 1992). The Court of Appeals reversed even though it did not find a "reasonable probability" of prejudice, but rather something akin to "mere possibility." Id. This error tainted the ultimate disposition, as it is extremely unlikely that any jury would have acquitted after viewing the video evidence. This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' faulty analysis conflicts with established Washington precedent.

4. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S OPINION IN <u>LUI</u>.

During a post-arrest interview with police, Fleeks repeatedly denied any connection with George's death, telling detectives he had not been near the Best Western, and in fact did not "even know what the Best Western is." Ex. 16 at 12-20.

When confronted with surveillance footage, he initially denied being the person shown interacting with George. Ex. 16 at 23.

Detective Cooper invited Fleeks to explain the shooting, asking whether George was "fucking with you or....something like that..." Ex. 16 at 24. Fleeks had no reaction when told George was dead and continued to deny any involvement. Ex. 16 at 26. Before ending the interview, Detective Cooper made the following comment:

Do you wanna explain anything to me? This, this is probably your last chance to try to make yourself not look so cold-hearted and stuff like that. We have witnesses that put you there, that identified you there. We have those pictures, that's off a video, dude...I, I mean you're 19...was there an argument, was there a disturbance, a fight, anything...so do you wanna explain what happened?

Ex. 16. at 33 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals held that admitting the "cold-hearted" statement was error because "it improperly commented on Fleeks's intent," "effectually directed the jury to not believe Fleeks's self-defense theory" and "could easily

appear to the jury as a belief that Fleeks was guilty of murder..." <u>Fleeks</u>, No. 82911-4 at 25-26. These assertions fail to account for the context of the detective's remark.

The exchange illustrated Fleeks' repeated denial of any involvement in George's death, which was flatly inconsistent with the video evidence and Fleeks' later assertion of self-defense. It also implied that the detective thought Fleeks was lying. At trial, however, Fleeks admitted that he had, in fact, repeatedly lied to police during the interview. RP 1177-80 (3/4/2021). Moreover, this Court has held that "an officer may repeat statements made during interrogation accusing a defendant of lying if such testimony provides context for the interrogation." <u>Lui</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 555.

The Court of Appeals did not address <u>Lui</u>, nor did it cite other cases addressing similar issues, such as <u>State v. Notaro</u>, 161 Wn. App. 654, 661, 255 P.3d 774 (2011), <u>State v. Smiley</u>, 195 Wn. App. 185, 189, 379 P.3d 149 (2016), and <u>State v. Putman</u>, 21 Wn. App. 2d 36, 42, 504 P.3d 868 (2022). In fact,

after describing the general principles of opinion evidence the court's substantive analysis did not cite any authority at all.

Fleeks, No. 82911-4 at 24-26.

To the extent the detective's statement was an "opinion," it was permissible under <u>Lui</u>. The detective's warning was apt: a defendant who flat-out lies about shooting someone looks cold-hearted without some explanation for his actions. The detective offered Fleeks a lifeline; he failed to grab it.

This Court should grant review to address the conflict created by the Court of Appeals' decision in this case.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons set forth above, the State respectfully requests this Court grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision in this case.

This document contains 4,147 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 14th day of February, 2023.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

GAVRIEL JACOBS, WSBA #46394 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Petitioner Office WSBA #91002