FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/16/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/15/2023 1:26 PM

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>101719-7</u> COA NO. 82911-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ROBERT FLEEKS, JR.,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mary Roberts, Judge

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Respondent

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, Washington 98121 206-623-2373

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

E. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION ON INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL RESTS LARGELY ON A FACTUAL DETERMINATION THAT DOES NOT WARRANT THIS COURT'S REVIEW.

The Court of Appeals reversed Fleeks' conviction for ineffective assistance of defense counsel. The seminal Washington case applying the <u>Strickland</u> standard involves precisely the same deficient performance as in this case: defense counsel's failure to request jury instructions on the law supporting the defense theory of the case. <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d 222, 227-29, 743 P.2d 816 (1987).

Contrary to the state's assertion in its petition for review, the Court of Appeals also correctly applied the second prong of the Strickland test, requiring a showing of prejudice. In its attempt to manufacture a significant issue that might warrant this Court's review, the state misrepresents the legal and factual bases for the Court of Appeals decision. This decision neither conflicts with precedent, nor involves any novel constitutional issue, nor raises an issue of substantial public interest.

a. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the second prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test for ineffective assistance of counsel.

The state claims the Court of Appeals failed to even mention the correct "reasonable probability" standard for prejudice in a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petition at 3. However, the Court of Appeals opinion states, "To show prejudice, the defendant must prove that, but for the deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different." Slip op. at 6-7 (citing <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Pirtle</u>, 136 Wn.2d 467, 487, 965 P.2d 593 (1998)).

Merely because the Court cited a different ineffective assistance case, rather than the seminal <u>Strickland</u> case, does not mean it failed to understand or apply the correct law. Although it may explain why the state failed to *notice* that the Court did, in fact, apply the correct prejudice standard. The Court of Appeals inartful use of the word "may" does not indicate that the Court failed to understand or apply the <u>Strickland</u> standard, particularly when it correctly recited it earlier in the opinion. Slip op. at 5-6, 11.

Any problematic nature of the Court of Appeals' opinion involves, at best, inartful wording, not "faulty analysis," as the state claims. Petition at 24. If the state wanted the Court of Appeals to clarify its wording, it could have moved to reconsider. Instead, it seeks this Court's review of a factual dispute best left to a jury, not an appellate court.

b. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the factual dispute, which would have mandated the trial court give jury instructions on revived self-defense if requested.

In deciding whether to give a jury instruction that correctly states the law, the trial judge is required to do so whenever there is substantial evidence to support giving the instruction. State v. Ponce, 166 Wn. App. 409, 415, 269 P.3d 408 (2012). In determining substantial evidence, the court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. State v. Fernandez–Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). The court may not weigh conflicting evidence. Ponce, 166 Wn. App. at 416. Here, the Court of Appeals recognized that Fleeks' testimony was the necessary substantial evidence supporting the revived self-defense instruction and the video evidence did not defeat that showing because it was open to interpretation and could be viewed as consistent with that testimony. Slip op. at 10.

This Court can view the video evidence for itself.

However, the mere fact that the Court of Appeals could view it as

potentially consistent with Fleeks' testimony shows that reasonable jurors could also view it in that way. For example, the state claims the video shows Fleeks walking side by side with George, rather than walking away ahead of him. Petition at 10. This is open to interpretation based on camera angles, for example. The Court of Appeals came to a different conclusion, finding the video shows Fleeks appearing to walk away from George. Slip op. at 10. In another example, what the state describes as an "errant haymaker," by George, the Court of Appeals described as a "hard punch." Slip op. at 5.

The Court of appeals did not ignore the video evidence. Petition for Review at Slip op. at 4-5, 10-11. It merely considered that there was more than one possible interpretation of that evidence, understanding it must be viewed in the light most favorable to Fleeks.

The state claims "it makes little sense for courts to accept testimony as true when it is plainly contradicted by video evidence of undisputed authenticity." Petition at 15. But the Court of Appeals did not hold that an instruction could not be denied if there were uncontroverted video evidence. Instead, it disagreed with the state's interpretation of this particular video evidence, finding it was open to interpretation consistent with Fleeks' testimony. Slip op. at 10.

The state also misapprehends the Court's decision and claims that, even if Fleeks tried to walk away, his act of hitting George with the pistol meant that it was Fleeks who was again the aggressor. Petition at 19. The state fails to acknowledge the evidence indicating that, before the so-called pistol-whipping, George had both followed Fleeks and made a threatening throatcutting gesture. Slip op. at 10. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that even the video, viewed in the light most favorable to Fleeks, supports this sequence of events. Slip op. at 10. After Fleeks tried to walk away, (and before Fleeks hit him with the gun) George not only followed him but made a threatening throat-cutting gesture. Slip op. at 10 ("the Best Western surveillance video shows that Fleeks does appear to break the aggression and walk away from George. George follows and makes a throat-slashing gesture."). The state ignores this detail when it argues that Fleeks re-initiated hostilities after his attempt to withdraw. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized a factual dispute that, when viewed in the light most favorable to Fleeks, would have supported a jury instruction on revived self-defense.

c. The state has misconstrued the Court of Appeals opinion.

The state frames the issue as whether the court is "permitted" to consider unchallenged video evidence in determining whether the evidence supports a defense-requested jury instruction. Petition at 4-5. This incorrectly portrays the Court of Appeals decision. The Court's opinion does not preclude a trial court from considering such evidence. It merely holds that this particular video recording in this case is not so substantially or completely contradictory of the accused's account as the state would have it.

The state cites <u>Berry v. King County</u>, 19 Wn. App. 2d 583, 501 P.3d 150 (2021), in which summary judgment was granted

where there was uncontroverted video evidence that "blatantly contradicted" contrary testimony by the plaintiff. Petition at 15-16. But this case was also discussed in the briefing before the Court of Appeals. Brief of Respondent at 107; Reply Brief of Appellant at 15. The Court of Appeals apparently agreed with Fleeks that the video in this case simply did not present the type of "blatant contradict[ion]" as Berry. Slip op. at 10.

The state's argument is not really that the Court of Appeals committed errors of law. It is that the Court of Appeals disagreed with the state's interpretation of the video evidence. This disagreement merely demonstrates the correctness of the Court's holding. If a reasonable person could view the video evidence as consistent with Fleeks' testimony, there is a reasonable probability that a correctly instructed jury would have accepted his defense of revived self-defense. The Court of Appeals holding does not implicate any unique constitutional issue and is directly in line with precedent requiring the evidence be viewed in the light most favorable to the party requesting a jury instruction.

d. The petition misrepresents both the Court of Appeals opinion and the evidence in an attempt to manufacture a non-existent issue of public interest pertaining to the prevalence of gun violence.

Contrary to the state's petition, the Court of Appeals' current decision is not "Justifying gun violence under these circumstances" or indeed under any circumstances. Petition at 2-3. It is merely preserving the right to have a jury decide such questions and to do so while being correctly advised of the applicable law.

The state also claims this is a case of public interest because "A fatal shooting in downtown Seattle, filmed by hotel guests from their window, is certainly an issue of substantial public interest." Petition at 21. The state misrepresents the evidence. The hotel guest was alerted to the goings on by the sound of the gunshot. 3RP 216. What the guest filmed was the aftermath of the shooting. <u>Id.</u> The hotel guest film neither the shooting itself nor, more critically here, the altercation that led up to it. <u>Id.</u> Presumably, the state is referring to the surveillance

video (not "filmed by hotel guests"), which did capture much of the lead-up to the shooting. Ex. 19. However, even that did not capture the shooting itself. Ex. 19. And, as mentioned, the surveillance video is arguably consistent with Fleeks' account of events, giving rise to a jury question that should have been informed by a correct instruction on the law.

Moreover, even if the video evidence were as clear and obvious as the state claimed, the state would be engaging in blatant and unrealistic scare tactics. If the video is so obvious, then a correct jury instruction on the law would not "substantially reduce the odds that modern day gunslingers will be successfully prosecuted." Slip op. at 21-22. Instead, if the video were that obvious, then any reasonable jury would convict, even in the face of a correct understanding of the law.

An instruction on the law of revived self-defense would merely have ensured that any guilty verdict occurred because the jury agreed with the state's interpretation of the evidence. On the other hand, without that instruction, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that, it is reasonably probable that the jury's verdict rested instead on a failure to understand the law. The state, which has an independent duty to protect the constitutional rights of the accused, should eschew such an outcome.

The state claims that this is a significant constitutional issue because "A defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense often depends on the jury being properly instructed." Petition at 17. The state fails to recognize that the Court of Appeals thoughtfully and carefully protected that constitutional right in this case, in line with prior cases from this Court and the Court of Appeals. There is no need to waste judicial resources on a disputed factual issue.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY VIEWED THE DETECTIVE'S PARTING COMMENT AS AN OPINION ON GUILT RATHER THAN CONTEXT FOR THE INTERROGATION.

The Court of Appeals' resolution of the improper opinion testimony is also consistent with precedent and does not

warrant this Court's review. Fleeks objected to the jury hearing a portion of his police interview in which Detective Cooper told him this would be his "last chance to make yourself look not so cold-hearted." Ex. 46;⁵ 3RP 153-55. This was just before Cooper ended the interview. Id. The court overruled the objection and allowed that portion of the interrogation to be played for the jury. 3RP 155. The Court of Appeals agreed with Fleeks that this was improper opinion testimony, holding that the comment "improperly commented on Fleeks's intent and effectually directed the jury to not believe Fleeks's self-defense theory." Slip op. at 25.

The state claims the Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with In re Pers. Restraint of Lui, 188 Wn.2d 525, 555, 397 P.3d 90, 109 (2017) in which this court declared, "an officer may repeat statements made during interrogation accusing a defendant of lying if such testimony provides context for the

⁵ An unredacted transcript of the interview was admitted for pre-trial purposes as pre-trial exhibit 16. This quote is found at page 33 of the transcript.

interrogation." This issue does not warrant this Court's review for two reasons. First, the Court of Appeals holding on this issue was not necessary to its decision to reverse Fleeks' convictions, which was based entirely on the jury instruction issue discussed above. Slip op. at 26.

Second, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not necessarily conflict with <u>Lui</u>. Cooper's comment regarding Fleeks being cold-hearted occurred just at the end of the interview. It was not a part of the detective's attempt to tease out the meaning of inconsistent statements, as in <u>Lui</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 555-56. Because it came when the interrogation was essentially over, the detective's comment was not part of the "context for the interrogation." It was simply the officer's opinion on Fleeks' state of mind.

Alternatively, if this Court finds the Court of Appeals' decision inconsistent with <u>Lui</u>, it should limit review to this issue alone. Review of the primary issue is not warranted for the reasons discussed above.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The state's petition for review should be denied.

Alternatively, review should be limited to the issue of improper

opinion on guilt.

DATED this 15th day of March, 2023.

I certify that this document was prepared using word processing

software and contains 3,297 words excluding the parts exempted

by RAP 18.17.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT

WSBA No. 38068

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS P.L.L.C.

March 15, 2023 - 1:26 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Court of Appeals Division I

Appellate Court Case Number: 82911-4

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington, Respondent v. Robert M. Fleeks, Jr., Appellant

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 829114_Other_20230315132418D1449702_1827.pdf

This File Contains:

Other - Answer to Petition

The Original File Name was ATPFR 82911-4-I.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

• gavriel.jacobs@kingcounty.gov

• paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty.gov

Comments:

Sender Name: John Sloane - Email: Sloanej@nwattorney.net

Filing on Behalf of: Jennifer J Sweigert - Email: SweigertJ@nwattorney.net (Alternate Email:)

Address:

2200 Sixth Ave. STE 1250

Seattle, WA, 98121 Phone: (206) 623-2373

Note: The Filing Id is 20230315132418D1449702